Anyone travelling by train or by car on the
highway through the middle part of the river Vih
valley certainly cannot miss a massive complex of
buildings of the former Castle on the left bank of
the Vih river and a monastery - which is now a
prison. High walls are hiding fates of thousands
of people who spent there some time either
voluntarily or they were forced to...

Already for 300 years the towers of the Baroque
temple have been a part of this striking silhouette.

The single-nave Baroque church of a hall type with a crypt,
with two corner towers is completed by a sanctuary with a
straight closure with a two-storey vestry. The second floor of the
vestry served as an oratory for the monks.

The nave is topped by two fields of cross vaults on the bands
resting on mighty rugged pillars with massive cornices and one
cross-vault over the sanctuary. There are two side chapels on
both sides of the nave. The windows are only on the south-west
wall of the church, the north-east wall is unbroken by windows
and the building of the former monastery leans on it.
Originally there was also a door in the vestry leading to the
monastery hallway.

Trinitarians dedicated the church to St. Trinity
the picture of which was also on the main altar.
From the time of its construction, the original
Baroque pews, wooden polychrome pulpit,
were preserved, as well as a part of the mobil-
iary in the vestry and the original rectangular
entry portal, with a straight cornice with a bell
profile.

Side altars (1766) have wooden pillar architec-
ture made by a lay brother Hypolit of the Ilava
monastery. They are decorated with artistically
valuable works of the carving master Anton Millner
from Lednica.

On the altar with the image of St. Anne there is also a
sculpture of St. Anne and St. Joachim (the parents of the
Virgin Mary). On the altar with a replica of the valuable
icon of Brno Virgin Mary there are statues of the Trin-
itarian saints, the founders of the order. The church
was consecrated by the Nitra canon, archdeacon
and parish priest of Tren¢in Adam Gy®ri.

Barokova rytina (1739) zobrazuje kos-
tol s kldstorom a nemocnicou. Vo vnii-
tornych nddvoriach sii tzv. rajské dvory,
v popredi zdhrada a rybnik. Za kostolom
a kldstorom vidno velké nddvorie obklo-
pené kastielom Konigseggovcov. V' pozadi
naznacené Biele Karpaty so zriicaninou
Vrrsatského hradu. V hornej casti rytiny je
maridnsky obraz.

The Baroque engraving (1739) shows the
church with the monastery and hospital.
In the inner patios there are the so-called
“Paradise Yards”, in the foreground there
is a garden and a pond. Behind the Church
and the monastery, you can see a large
courtyard surrounded by the manor house
of the Kénigseggs. In the background, there
are White Carpathians, with the ruins of
the Vrsatec Castle. At the top of the en-
graving there is a Marian image.

After the departure of Trinitarians from Ilava (they stayed
here for more than 80 years) and the change to a parish church,
there were structural adaptations made, which can be divided
into 5 stages of construction.
The entrance to the monastery from the vestry has been bricked
in, the cloister gallery was removed and the front wall with the
main altar was modified. The new main altar has a wooden tab-
ernacle ended by a polychrome canopy with a gold-plated sculp-
ture of a pelican on the top.
On the front wall above the altar there is a hanging
picture of All Saints - the new patrons of the church -
framed by illusion altar architecture (probably 1788).
Painted sculptures of St. Peter and Paul on the exten-
sion of the illusion altar are complemented by the
motive of the St. Trinity (reminder of the patrocin-
ium from the times of the Trinitarians). The original
organ from the time of the construction of the church
was replaced in 1950 by a new one made by the company
Tucek from Kutna Hora, designed by E. Zavarsky. In 2015
it has undergone a full reconstruction.

Bronzovd krstitelnica z roku 1650. Ostrozicovci ju povodne

darovali este starSiemu, dnes uz nejestvujiicemu farskému kostolu.

Dielo vynikajiiceho kovolejdrskeho majstra Baltazdra Herolda

A bronze baptistery from the year 1650. Originally the OstroZic¢ family
donated it to the older parish church, not existing now. It is the work of
the excellent metal founder master Balthasar Herold.

THE MONASTERY OF THE ORDER

OF THE HOLY TRINITY

TRINITARIANS

The Hungarian king Leopold I sold the Ilava Castle together
with the castle estate for 80 000 golden coins to count Siegfried
Breuner of Stobingen. He borrowed the money for the purchase
from Archbishop George Széchényi and some sources mention
that the Archbishop got these possessions as a pledge for the
borrowed money. According to the last will of George Széchényi
in 1694 the foundation deed of the Monastery of the Trinitarian
Order in Ilava was drafted, the first one in the Kingdom of Hun-
gary. He wished that the monks - Trinitarians settle in the estate
in Ilava, so that they remember him and pray for the salvation of
his soul in their masses...

Trinitarians came mostly from Spain and Austria; they were
buying Christians from Turkish captivity and helped also as
male nurses.

They settled in the Upper Castle. They repaired it and began
with the construction of the Baroque church with two towers
(1701-1718), the towers (1718-1722), and later added the build-
ing of the monastery and the hospital (1753). The monks had
a large garden and in the inner patios the so-called “Paradise
Yards” The first representative of the Ilava monastery was the
father Joseph a Sacramento. In the monastery they also brought
up monastic novices and already in 1695 a philosophy course
was established there, later a college of philosophy.

In 1783 the monastery was abolished by the sovereign Joseph II.
After the departure of Trinitarians, the monastery church served
as a parish church.

ILAVA CASTLE AND MONASTERY

1446 - The first reliable report on Ilava Castle. It mentions its
captain Mikulas of Klobusice - the servant of Pongrac of
Svity Mikulas, then the holder of Ilava

1454 - John Hunyadi

1460 - Juraj Hatnansky (George of Hatné)

1470 - Blaise Magyar - he got the castle with the castle estate
from the king Matthias Corvinus

1473 - Ilava had two landlords. Blaise Magyar adopted his son
in law Paul Kinizsi and gave him half of his possessions

1495 - Palatine Stephen Zapolya, later his son John Zapolya

1527 - Vladislav Macedonian

1533 - Nicholas Ostrozic, later other members of the family

1685 - Siegfried Christoph Breuner of Stiibingen (general,
vice-chairman of the Empire s Court Chamber)

1694 - Foundation deed of the monastery of the order of St.
Trinity

1695 - Arrival of Trinitarians to Ilava
Lower Castle - mansion - count Breuner
Upper Castle - order of Trinitarians

1701-1718 - Construction of the Baroque church - without towers

1718-1722 - The Church complete with towers and facade

1718 - After the death of count Breuner the estate was inherited
by his sister Maria A. K6nigsegg, née Breuner, later fur-
ther descendants

1753 - Trinitarians finished the building of the monastery and
hospital

1783 - Abolition of the monastery after the reforms of the sov-
ereign Joseph II. The buildings of the monastery were
bought from The Royal Chamber by the Kénigsegg family

1787 - Joseph II allowed using the former Trinitarian Church as
a parish church as it is to this day

1855 - Count Gustav Konigsegg sold the entire complex of
buildings of the Ilava Castle to the Kingdom of Hungary

1856 - The state established a provincial prison in Ilava for pris-
oners with a sentence of more than 10 years. Since then,
the Castle serves as a prison

1856-1918 - Provincial penitentiary for prisoners with a sen-
tence of more than 10 years

1918-1939 - Penitentiary for criminals (male, female)

1919 - About 200 civilians and soldiers were imprisoned for
their political activity

1938- 1945 - Comenius Institute — a house of correction for
juvenile delinquents in a part of the prison, dissolved
in 1944. Detention camp for political prisoners -for all
persons causing serious worries, that they will be incon-
venient for the Slovak State. Also a temporary centre for
different groups of prisoners (Jews, communists) and de-
tention camp for prisoners of war.

RIMSKOKATOLICKY KOSTOL
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Kto cestuje strednym Povazim vlakom
alebo autom po dialnici,

na lavom brehu Vahu urcite
neprehliadne mohutny komplex
budov byvalého hradu

a kldstora - v sucasnosti viznice.

Za vysokymi muirmi sa ukryvajii
osudy tisicov ludji, ktori tu dobrovolne
alebo nasilu, isty ¢as pobudli...

Uz 300 rokov st siicastou tejto vyraznej
siluety veZe barokového chramu.

Jednolodovy barokovy kostol halového typu s kryptou, s dvo-
mi naroznymi vezami je ukonceny svitynou s rovinym zaverom
s dvojpodlaznou sakristiou. Druhé nadzemné podlazie sakristie
sluzilo ako oratérium pre mnichov.

Lod je zaklenutd dvomi polami krizovych klenieb na pasoch
dosadajucich na mohutné ¢lenité pristenné piliere s mohutnymi
rimsami a jednou krizovou klenbou nad svityriou. Na obidvoch
stranach lode sa nachddzaji dve bo¢né kaplnky. Oknd su iba na
juhozapadnej stene kostola, severovychodnad je plna a prilieha
k nej budova byvalého kléstora. Povodne boli v sakristii aj dvere
do klastornej chodby.

Trinitari chram zasvitili sv. Trojici, ktorej obraz bol aj na hlav-
nom oltdri. Z ¢ias vystavby sa zachovali povodné barokové lavi-
ce, drevend polychromovand kazatelnica, v sakristii ¢ast mobili-
aru a pévodny vstupny pravouhly portal, hore s rovhou rimsou
zvonovitého profilu. Boéné oltére (1766) maju drevenu stipovii
architektaru, vyhotovil ich laicky brat Hypolit z ilavského klas-
tora. Zdobia ich umelecky hodnotné diela rezbarskeho majstra

Sv. Jan z Mathy - zakladatel rehole tri-
nitdrov (1154 - 1213) Trinitdri - ka-
tolicky Rad Najsvitejsej Trojice nosili
biele riicho s cervenomodrym krizom
na prsiach a hnedym plastom. Zakla-
datelia rdadu boli sv. Jan z Mathy a sv.
Félix z Valois.

St. John of Matha - the founder of the
religious order of Trinitarians (1154-
1213) Trinitarians - a Catholic order
of the Holy Trinity, they wore white
robes with a blue and red cross on the
chest and a brown cape. The founders
of the order were St. John of Matha
and St. Felix of Valois.ldtogatdskor.

Ruzovd ulica s kostolom v roku 1886. Viicsina domov bola vtedy este prizemnd so slamenymi strechami

The street with the church in 1886. Most of the houses were then still only single-storey houses with thatched roofs.

Antona Millnera z Lednice.

Na oltari s obrazom sv. Anny sa nachadza aj plasti-
ka sv. Anny a tiez sv. Joachima (rodic¢ia Panny Ma-

rie). Na oltari s replikou vzacnej ikony - Panny

Marie Brnenskej st sochy trinitarskych svitcov,

zakladatelov radu. Vysvitenie kostola previedol
nitriansky kanonik, archidiakon a trenciansky
farar Adam Gyori.

Po odchode trinitarov z Ilavy (pdsobili tu viac
ako 80 rokov) a zmenou na farsky kostol dos-
lo k stavebnym upravam, ktoré je mozné rozdelit
do 5 stavebnych etap. V sakristii zamurovali vchod

do klastora, zrusili klastorny chor a upravili celnd stenu
s hlavnym oltarom. Novy hlavny oltar ma drevené tabernaku-
lum ukoncené polychrémovanym baldachynom s pozlatenou
plastikou pelikdna na vrchole.
Na celnej stene nad oltdrom je zavesny obraz Vsetkych svétych
- novych patrénov kostola - ramovany iluzivnou oltarnou ar-
chitekturou (pravdepodobne 1788). Malované sochy sv. Petra
a Pavla doplita v nadstavci iluzivneho oltara motiv Sv. Troji-
ce (pripomenutie patrocinia z ¢ias trinitarov). Pévodny organ
z Cias vystavby kostola nahradili v roku 1950 novym od firmy
Tucek Kutnd Hora, podla navrhu E. Zavarského. V roku 2015
presiel kompletnou rekonstrukciou.

KLASTOR RADU NAJSVATEJSEJ TROJICE

TRINITARI

Uhorsky kral Leopold I. predal Ilavsky hrad s hradnym pan-
stvom za 80 000 zlatych gréfovi Siegfriedovi Breunerovi zo
Stbbingenu. Ten si na kipu pozical od ostrihomského arcibisku-
pa Juraja Széchényiho, a niektoré pramene uvadzaju, ze arcibis-
kup tieto majetky dostal do zalohy za vypozi¢ané peniaze. Pod-
la poslednej vole Juraja Széchényiho bola v roku 1694 spisana
zakladacia listina KLASTORA RADU TRINITAROV V ILA-
VE, prvého v Uhorsku. Zelal si usadit reholnikov - trinitdrov
na panstve v Ilave, aby vo svojich sv. omsiach na neho pamatali
a prosili za spasu jeho duse...

Trinitari pochddzali vicsinou zo Spanielska a Rakuska, vyku-
povali krestanov z tureckého zajatia a vykonavali aj oSetrovatel-
sku ¢innost.

Usadili sa v objekte horného hradu. Tento opravili a zacali s vy-
stavbou barokového dvojvezového kostola (1701-1718) s veza-
mi (1718-1722), neskor pristavili budovy klastora a nemocni-
ce (1753). Pri nich mali mnisi velkd zahradu a na vnutornych

nadvoriach tzv. rajské dvory. Prvy predstavitel ilavského rehol-
ného domu bol P. Jozef a Sacramento. V klastore vychovavali
i reholnych novicov, uz v r. 1695 tu vznikol kurz filozofie, neskor
filozofické collegium - vysoka Skola filozoficka.

V roku 1783 bol klastor panovnikom Jozefom II. zruseny. Po od-
chode trinitdrov zacal klastorny kostol sluzit ako farsky.

ILAVSKY HRAD A KLASTOR

1446 - Prva hodnovernd sprava o Ilavskom hrade. Spomina sa
v nej jeho kapitan Mikulas z Klobusic - sluzobnik Pon-
graca zo Svatého Mikulasa, vtedajsieho drzitela Ilavy

1454 - Jan Hunyady

1460 - Juraj Hatnansky (Juraj z Hatného)

1470 - Blazej Magyar - hrad s panstvom dostal od krala Mateja
Korvina

1473 - Ilava mala dvoch zemepanov. Blazej Madar adoptoval
svojho zata Pavla Kinizsiho a dal mu polovicu svojich
majetkov

1495 - Palatin Stefan Zapolsky, neskor jeho syn Jan Zapolsky

1527 - Vladislav Macedonsky

1533 - Mikulas Ostrozi¢, neskor dalsi ¢clenovia rodu

1685 - Siegfried Kristof Breuner zo Stiibingenu (general,
podpredseda risskej dvorskej komory)

1694 - Zakladacia listina klastora radu trinitarov

1695 - Prichod trinitarov do Ilavy. Dolny hrad - panské sidlo -
grof Breuner. Horny hrad - rehola trinitarov

1701-1718 - Vystavba barokového kostola - bez vezi

1718-1722 - Kostol dokonceny s vezami a priecelim.

Pévodné barokové lavice
Original Baroque pews

Pred kostolom na mieste byvalého panského rybnika sa v siicasnosti nachd-
dza verejny park so zrestaurovanou sochou sv. Jana Nepomuckého. Park nesie
meno Stefana Rausa (1880-1958). Byvaly ilavsky ucitel, starosta, kronikdr bol
aj organistom v kostole a viedol spevicky zbor

In front of the church, on the site of a former manorial pond nowadays there is
a public park with a restored statue of St. John of Nepomuk. The park is named
after Stefan Raus (1880-1958) the former Ilava teacher, chronicler, organist in
the church, and choir director.

1718 - Po smrti gréfa Breunera zdedila panstvo jeho sestra Md-
ria A. Kénigseggova r. Breunerova, neskor dalsi potom-
kovia

1753 - Trinitari dostavali klastor a nemocnicu

1783 - Zrusenie kldstora po reformach panovnika Jozefa II. Bu-
dovy klastora odkupili od kralovskej komory Kénigseg-
govci

1787 - Byvaly trinitarsky kostol povolil Jozef II. pouzivat ako
farsky. Tym je dodnes

1855 - Grof Gustav Kénigsegg predal cely komplex budov Ilav-
ského hradu uhorskému $tatu

1856 - Stét zriadil v Ilave krajinskd trestnicu pre viziiov s vyme-
rou trestu nad 10 rokov. Od tych ¢ias hrad slazi vizen-
skym ucelom

1856-1918 - Krajinska trestnica pre vdznov s vymerou trestu
nad 10 rokov

1918-1939 - Trestnica pre kriminélne zivly (muzi, Zeny)

1919 - Za politicka ¢innost uvdznenych cca 200 civilov a voja-
kov

1938 - 1945 - Komenského ustav - napravnovychovné zariade-
nie pre mladistvych (v Casti védznice, rozpusteny 1944).
Zaistovaci tabor pre politickych viznov - pre vSetky oso-
by vzbudzujtce vaznu obavu, Ze budu prekazkou Sloven-
ského Statu. Tiez docasné stredisko pre rozne skupiny
vaznov (zidia, komunisti) a zaistovaci tabor pre vojno-
vych zajatcov.

Pod  kostolom sa nachddza
priestrannd krypta, na jej vy-
budovanie trinitdri vyuZili hl-
bokii hradnii priekopu okolo
horného hradu, s pouzitim resp.
zapojenim starsich murovanych
konstrukcii hradu. Tito terén-
na situdcia bola plne vyuzitd
a poshizila pre vznik krypty pod
celym kostolom. Sti tu pochova-

dondtoroy kostola a miestnej
Slachty

Under the church there is a spacious crypt, for the construction of which the Trinitar-
ians used a deep trench around the Upper Castle, together with the older masonry
structures of the Castle. They fully used the terrain for making a crypt under the entire
church. It is the burial place of some of the members of the order, people who donated
to the church and local nobility.

ni niektori clenovia rddu, cast

Na fotografii vidno vsadenie kostola do hradného aredlu. Ten je v sticasnosti viz-
nicou, preto je kostol z inych stran ako z hlavnej Celnej juhovychodnej fasdady
s ndstupnym mohutnym schodiskom nepristupny

The picture shows the setting of the Church in the Castle premises. It is a prison
now, therefore the Church is inaccessible from other sides, only from the main
south-east facade with the massive staircase.

V' kruhovej kompozicii vidime
uhorskych krdlov, pdpeZov, svit-
cov a svitice v dobovych riichach,
s atribiitmi. Kompozicia smeruje
k nebu, k postave Panny Marie.
In the circular composition we
can see the kings of the Kingdom
of Hungary, popes, and saints in
period attires with their attrib-
utes. The composition is pointing
to the sky, to the figure of Virgin
Mary.
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